#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JEFF MYERS, Individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Appellant,

VS.

RENO CAB COMPANY, INC.,

Respondent.

\_\_\_\_\_

ARTHUR SHATZ and RICHARD FRATIS, Individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Appellants,

VS.

ROY L. STREET, Individually and d/b/a CAPITAL CAB,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
No. 80448 Jun 22 2020 11:05 a.m.
District Ct. # CV15-0年數率 beth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

No. 80449 District Ct. # CV15-01385

## APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

LEON GREENBERG
PROFESSONIAL CORPORATION
Leon Greenberg, Esq.
2965 South Jones Blvd., #E3
Las Vegas, NV 89146
Bar # 8094
(702) 383-6085

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal because it is an appeal of a final judgment.

The order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment constituting a final judgment was entered by the district court and served electronically with notice of entry on December 16, 2019. The notice of appeal was served and filed electronically on January 13, 2020.

#### NRAP RULE 17 ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal should be assigned to the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP Rule 17(a)(11) because its principal issues involve questions of first impression involving the Nevada Constitution. Specifically, this appeal involves two questions yet to be answered concerning the Nevada Constitution, Article 15, Section 16 (the "Minimum Wage Amendment" or the "MWA"). The first is whether a taxicab driver may still be an "employee" protected by the MWA when they are also "lessee" of the taxicab they are driving pursuant to a lease subject to NRS 706.473. The second is whether NRS 608.0155 abrogates and supercedes the holding of *Terry v. Sapphire Gentleman's Club*, 336 P.3d 951 (2014) regarding how it is determined if a worker is an "employee" or "independent contractor" under the MWA.

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED

This appeal presents the following issues:

- (1) Whether the Nevada Transportation Authority's ("NTA's") approval pursuant to NRS 706.473 of taxicab lease agreements between taxicab company lessors and taxicab driver lessees renders such taxicab drivers as a matter of law "independent contractors" and not "employees" entitled to the protections of the Nevada Constitution, Article 15, Section 16 (the "Minimum Wage Amendment" or the "MWA"); and
- (2) Whether NRS 608.0155, enacted in 2015 and creating a conclusive presumption that certain workers are independent contractors, overrules the holding of *Terry v. Sapphire Gentleman's Club*, 336 P.3d 951 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2014) that employee status for MWA purposes is determined under the "economic realities" test.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The two underlying cases were commenced in 2015 in the First Judicial District Court and subsequently transferred to the Second Judicial District Court and consolidated. JA 1-18, 36-38.<sup>1</sup> The appellants, Jeff Myers, Arthur Shatz, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Referenced page numbers of Appellants' and Respondents' Joint Appendix are referred to as "JA."

Richard Fratis (hereinafter "appellants" or "Taxi Drivers") allege the respondents, Reno Cab Company, Inc. and Roy L. Street dba Capital Cab (hereinafter "respondents" or "Cab Companies") failed to compensate them and a class of similarly situated Taxi Drivers with the minimum hourly wage required by the MWA. JA 1-18.

The Cab Companies moved for summary judgment in the district court in 2016. They claimed the Taxi Drivers were not employees entitled to the minimum wages required by the MWA but independent contractor lessees of the taxi cabs they drove. JA 48-209. The Taxi Drivers opposed that motion asserting material factual disputes existed as to whether they were employees within the meaning of the MWA under the "economic realities" test of employment adopted by *Terry v. Sapphire Gentleman's Club*, 336 P.3d 951 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2014). JA 210-355. The district court in 2017 denied that motion, finding whether the Taxi Drivers were independent contractors or employees under the MWA was to be determined pursuant to NRS 608.0155 and not the "economic realities" test and that disputed material facts existed. JA 401-432.

The Cab Companies renewed their motion for summary judgment in the district court in 2019. They asserted the NTA's approval of the Taxi Driver's lease agreements with the Cab Companies pursuant to NRS 706.473 rendered the Taxi

Drivers independent contractors and not employees under the MWA.

JA 432-536. The Taxi Drivers in opposition asserted that the NTA's power was limited to approving taxicab lease agreements and did not include determining whether a taxicab lessee was an independent contractor under the MWA. They argued such lease approval was not germane to determining whether the Taxi Drivers were independent contractors and not employees under the MWA. JA 537-570. On December 16, 2019 the district court granted the Cab Companies summary judgment on the basis that the NTA's approval of the Taxi Drivers' lease agreements with the Cab Companies pursuant to NRS 706.473 rendered them independent contractors and not employees for the purposes of the MWA and this appeal ensued. JA 587-601.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Cab Companies are licensed to operate taxicab businesses by the NTA. Appellants labored as taxicab drivers for the Cab Companies. Their work in such capacity was governed, in part, by a written "Taxicab Lease Agreement" the form of which was approved by the NTA pursuant to NRS 706.473. JA 69-82, 148-160, 176-189. Those agreements provided the Taxi Drivers would be compensated for their work by retaining whatever "book" (fares) were collected from a taxicab's operation over a 12 hour period after paying the Taxi Companies \$5.00 or \$10.00 plus 50% of the "total book" plus gas and administrative fees. JA 82, 160, 189.

Those agreements did not provide for any minimum compensation to the Taxi Drivers, whether on a daily, hourly, or weekly basis. The agreements could, and as alleged by the Taxi Drivers did, on occasion result in the Taxi Drivers paying more to the Taxi Companies and for gas then they earned from the "book" share they received for transporting passengers. JA 227, 288-89, 310.

The Taxi Drivers allege that their compensation for their work for the Cab Companies was often less than the minimum hourly wage required by the MWA. JA 6, 15. The Taxi Companies assert the Taxi Drivers had substantial independence and control in performing their work. JA 84-85, JA 162-64. The Taxi Drivers dispute those assertions and insist the Taxi Companies exercised a large degree of control over their work. JA 224-227, 286-290, 307-310. The Taxi Drivers also assert their work for the Taxi Companies was governed by an extensive set of written and other rules and regulations separate from and in addition to the "Taxicab Lease Agreements." JA 315-326.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in finding the NTA's approval of the Cab Companies' taxicab lease agreements pursuant to NRS 706.473 rendered taxicab drivers who signed those agreements "independent contractors" and not "employees" as a matter of law under the MWA. The NTA is granted the power by NRS 706.473 approve

Cab Companies' taxicab lease agreements. It is not granted the power to declare that lessees who sign such agreements, irrespective of all other facts and circumstances, are "independent contractors" as a matter of law for minimum wage purposes. The statutory and Nevada Constitutional language, scheme, and history, and this Court's precedents, provide no support for the district court's contrary conclusion.

The district court erred in finding NRS 608.0155, enacted in 2015, could abrogate this Court's earlier decision in *Terry v. Sapphire Gentleman's Club*, 336 P.3d 951, 958 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2014), that employment for the purposes of the MWA is determined under the "economic realities" test. The Nevada Legislature is not granted the power under Nevada's Constitution to vary the terms of the MWA and NRS 608.0155 can only apply to situations that do not involve claims of "employment" under the MWA. The district court, by ignoring the supremacy of Nevada's Constitution, erred in finding NRS 608.0155 and not the "economic realities" test controlled the determination of whether the Taxi Drivers were employees of the Cab Companies under the MWA.

#### APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW

The district court's decision granting summary judgment is reviewed by the Supreme Court under a *de novo* standard without any deference to the district court's findings. *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729; 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

Summary judgment is only appropriate when the pleadings and other evidence indicate there is no genuine dispute as to any issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* When reviewing a decision granting summary judgment, the evidence, and any reasonable inferences drawn from it, must be viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id.* 

#### ARGUMENT

- I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING NRS 706.473
  GRANTED THE NTA THE POWER TO DEFINE
  EMPLOYMENT FOR MINIMUM WAGE PURPOSES
  - A. Terry held that employment for minimum wage purposes is determined under the "economic realties" test.

In *Terry* this Court was called upon to decide how it is determined whether a worker is an "employee" or an "independent contractor" under Nevada law for minimum wage purposes. After conducting an extensive review of Nevada's and other jurisdictions' precedents, the legislative and Nevada Constitutional history and the purpose of minimum wage laws, and taking into account other considerations, it concluded it would "....adopt the FLSA's [the federal Fair Labor Standards Act's] 'economic realities' test for employment in the context of Nevada's minimum wage laws." 336 P.3d at 954-958. In doing so it reversed the district court's decision to apply to Nevada's minimum wage laws the "five factor" test of employment used by Nevada's Industrial Insurance Act ("NIIA"). 336 P.3d at 953-54.

Terry rested its decision to adopt the "economic realities" test, and rejected the district court's use of the NIIA test of employment, based upon the different "underlying purpose" of the NIIA and Nevada's minimum wage laws; that "the Legislature had not clearly signaled its intent that Nevada's minimum wage scheme should deviate from the federally [FLSA] set course"; and the "practical reasons" of having Nevada's minimum wage test of employment conform to the FLSA's longstanding "economic realities" test. 336 P.3d at 957-958. There is no suggestion in Terry that any test other than the "economic realities" test is properly used, in any situation, to determine employment status under Nevada's minimum wage laws.

# B. Even if *Terry* was ignored NRS 706.473 does not grant the NTA the power to define employment for minimum wage purposes.

Even if *Terry* was ignored no basis exists to find the NTA, through NRS 706.473, has the power to define taxi drivers as "independent contractors" for minimum wage purposes. That statute does not discuss granting the NTA the power to define who is, or is not, an independent contractor. It grants the NTA the power to approve of, and delineate the terms of, "a lease agreement" by a taxicab company with an independent contractor and is silent about how, or whether, the NTA

determines if a lessee is an independent contractor.<sup>2</sup> Nor does NRS 706.473 concern itself with whether such a leased taxicab driver is an employee of anyone. Rather, it accomplishes two things: it renders the lessor under such an NTA approved agreement jointly and severally liable with the lessee for violations of Chapter 706 and grants the NTA standing to intervene in any civil action involving such lease.<sup>3</sup> The NTA, by having the power to withhold approval of any proposed lease agreement, can also ensure the terms of such a lease do not restrict taxi cab service or allow a Cab Company to evade its obligations under Chapter 706.

NRS 706.473 grants the NTA the power to regulate taxicab lease terms. It also

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> NRS 706.473 (1) and (2):

<sup>(1)</sup> In a county whose population is less than 700,000, a person who holds a certificate of public convenience and necessity which was issued for the operation of a taxicab business may, upon approval from the Authority, lease a taxicab to an independent contractor who does not hold a certificate of public convenience and necessity.

<sup>(2)</sup> A person who enters into a lease agreement with an independent contractor pursuant to this section shall submit a copy of the agreement to the Authority for its approval. The agreement is not effective until approved by the Authority.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> NRS 706.473 (3) and (4):

<sup>(3)</sup> A person who leases a taxicab to an independent contractor is jointly and severally liable with the independent contractor for any violation of the provisions of this chapter or the regulations adopted pursuant thereto, and shall ensure that the independent contractor complies with such provisions and regulations.

<sup>(4)</sup> The Authority or any of its employees may intervene in a civil action involving a lease agreement entered into pursuant to this section.

requires joint and several lessor/lessee liability for compliance with NRS Chapter 706, as specified in NRS 706.473(3). Even if the NTA believes it has the power to define a taxi lessee as an "independent contractor" as a matter of law for the MWA or other purposes, such an assertion of authority by it has no weight. "...[A]n agency's interpretation of a statute is persuasive when the statute is one the agency administers." *Nev. Pub. Emplys. Ret. Bd. v. Smith*, 320 P.3d 560, 565 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2013). The NTA does not administer the MWA and has no power over, or expertise in, Nevada's minimum wage laws.

The NTA's power to establish taxicab lease terms under NRS 706.473 is not relevant to whether the Taxi Drivers are, or are not, employees for minimum wage purposes. Such lease terms may, or may not, tend to establish a taxicab lessee is an independent contractor under the MWA. But in either event it is the lease terms themselves (if complied with) that may influence the resolution of the employee or independent contractor issue. The NTA's approval of the lease does not render the taxi lessee an independent contractor under the MWA.

## C. The district court's understanding of *Yellow Cab* of *Reno* is erroneous and without any basis in law.

The district court rested its holding on the following findings drawn, exclusively, from what it found to be the law established by this Court in *Yellow Cab* of *Reno v. Second Judicial Dist. Ct.*, 262 P.3d 699, 704 (2011):

The Court will grant the Motion because the Plaintiffs are independent contractors as a matter of law. Contrary to the Plaintiffs' argument, compliance with NRS 706.473 and NAC 706.3753 creates an independent contractor relationship as a matter of law. The *Yellow Cab* Court made this abundantly clear when it opined that "[t]he existence of this statutorily created independent contractor relationship turns not on the issue of control," but on the satisfaction of statutory and administrative requirements. 127 Nev. at 592, 262 P.3d at 704. In this case, all of the requirements in NRS 706.473 and NAC 706.3753 have been satisfied, thus creating an independent contractor relationship between the Plaintiffs and the Defendants. JA 598

The district court erred. In *Yellow Cab of Reno* this Court did *not* find, much less make "abundantly clear" that "compliance with NRS 706.473 and NAC 706.3753 creates an independent contractor relationship as a matter of law" for all purposes or for minimum wage purposes or even for any purpose except Chapter 706. The district court failed to read the sentence immediately following the language it cites, where this Court made clear whether "this statutorily created independent contract relationship" for the purposes of NRS Chapter 706 extended beyond that Chapter had not been addressed in Nevada:

The statute is silent, however, as to whether the creation of an independent contractor relationship under that statute acts to bar the application of respondeat superior liability as is the case under traditional independent contractor relationships. *Id*.

Yellow Cab of Reno declined, in the context of that writ proceeding, to consider that issue and directed the district court to examine "...whether a statutorily recognized independent contractor relationship, established through compliance with

NRS 706.473 and the regulations promulgated in accordance with NRS 706.475, would allow Yellow Cab to avoid liability under a respondent superior analysis." 262 P.3d at 704 and fn 6.

What Yellow Cab of Reno found was that Nevada's Court's had yet to determine whether NRS 706.473 could establish an "independent contractor" relationship for a legal liability not arising under Chapter 706, such as the common law respondeat superior liability at issue in that case. It never answered that question, much less found, as the district court held, that NRS 706.473 establishes an independent contractor relationship as a matter of law for minimum wage purposes.

D. Even it NRS 706.473 establishes independent contractor status for *respondeat superior* purposes it does not for minimum wage purposes.

Nevada's Courts have yet to address the precise question left unanswered by *Yellow Cab of Reno*. But even if they were to find NRS 706.473 displaces the common law *respondeat superior* analysis discussed in *Yellow Cab of Reno*, and establishes as a matter of law the absence of such a relationship, that finding would not extend to minimum wage claims.

The economic realities test adopted by this Court in *Terry* overrides the common law test of employment and sometimes results in an individual being an independent contractor under the common law (or by extension under one statutory

scheme) and simultaneously an employee for minimum wage purposes. See, Rutherford Food Corp. v. McComb, 331 U.S. 722, 726-28 (1947) (Establishing "economic realities" test) citing Court of Appeals decision 156 F. 513 at 516-17 (Status of workers as independent contractors under the common law was not controlling and they were employees under the federal minimum wage law; the Court of Appeals noting it is "immaterial" that the workers were independent contractors for "other purposes" outside the minimum wage context.) Terry embraced this approach and expressly recognized that "employment" may mean different things under different Nevada laws, such as the NIAA and Nevada's minimum wage laws. 336 P.3d at 957-958. See, also, Hays Home Delivery v. Emplrs Ins. Co., 31 P.3d 367, 369-370 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2001) (Independent contractors in certain circumstances are employees for purposes of Nevada's workers compensation system, as established by Meers v. Haughton Elevator, 701 P.2d 1006 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1985), and as also later codified by statute).

While, perhaps, NRS 706.473 can override a common law *respondent superior* analysis, no basis exists to find it can override the longstanding statutory, and now Nevada Constitutionally based, economic realities employment test for minimum wage purposes.

## II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN FINDING NRS 608.0155 DISPLACES THE ECONOMIC REALITIES TEST OF EMPLOYMENT FOR CLAIMS BROUGHT UNDER THE MWA

A. This Court's 2014 determination in *Terry* that the "economic realities" test of employment applied to the MWA could not be abrogated in 2015 by NRS 608.0155.

This Court in *Terry* held it would "...adopt the FLSA's "economic realities" test for employment in the context of Nevada's minimum wage *laws*." 336 P.3d at 958 (emphasis added). Its use of the plural tense made clear this Court was not just interpreting "employment" under Nevada's statutes for minimum wage purposes but under all of its *laws* including the MWA. It was to that extent rendering an interpretation of a provision of Nevada's Constitution, not a mere statute.

Terry was issued in 2014 and declared what it meant to be an employee for minimum wage purposes under Nevada's laws. In respect to the MWA, passed in 2006, it was rendering such a decision as to what the MWA meant by "employment" as of its enactment in 2006. NRS 608.0155 was enacted by Nevada's Legislature after Terry was decided. The district court held that the enactment of NRS 608.0155 in 2015 evidenced an "intent" by Nevada's Legislature to "supercede the decisions in Thomas [v. Nevada Yellow Cab Corp., 327 P. 518 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2014)] and Sapphire [Terry]..." and "abrogate" Terry's adoption of the economic realities test. JA 408-409.

In upholding the abrogation of *Terry* by NRS 608.0155 the district court reasoned, citing *Thomas*, 327 P.3d at 521, that such statute was not "irreconcilably repugnant" to the MWA but merely provided an "interpretive aid" by "…enumerating a clear test of who is and who is not an independent contractor, and therefore, who is and who is not excepted from the MWA's expanded protections." JA 410. It reasoned such action by the Legislature was not "constitutionally infirm," as found in *Thomas* in respect to the statutory minimum wage exemption for taxi drivers, since it "did not designate specific groups, such as taxi drivers, for its application or exemption." *Id*.

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