IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

24

25

26

JEFF MYERS, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Supreme Court Case Actronomy Filed
District Ct. #CV15 Aug 35 2020 04:44 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

RENO CAB COMPANY, INC.

Respondent.

ARTHUR SHATS and RICHARD FRATIS, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Supreme Court Case No.: 80449 District Ct. #CV15-01385

Appellants,

VS.

ROY L. STREET, individually and dba CAPITOL CAB,

Respondent.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

MARK G. SIMONS, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 5132 SIMONS HALL JOHNSTON PC 6490 S. McCarran Blvd., #F-46 Reno, Nevada 89509 T: (775) 785-0088

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The primary issue on appeal is whether the Legislature can define an independent contractor relationship. If such a relationship exists, then the MWA is not implicated because no employee/employer relationship exists. Stated another way, the MWA and NRS Chapter 608's provisions only apply when there is an employment relationship. Nev. Const. Art. 15, §16 ("Each employer shall pay a wage to each employee"); see also Terry v. Sapphire Gentlemen's Club, 130 Nev. 879, 882, 336 P.3d 951, 954 (2014) ("Only an 'employee' is entitled to

¹⁰ Of note, even though the underlying captions contained reference to the named plaintiffs brining suit on behalf of a class, no class certification was sought.

minimum wages under NRS Chapter 608."). *Compare* NRS 608.255(2) ("The relationship between a principal and an independent contractor" "do[es] not constitute [an] employment relationship[]").

NRS 706.473 unmistakably establishes a statutorily defined independent contractor relationship. In <u>Yellow Cab of Reno v. District Court</u>, 127 Nev. 583, 592, 262 P.3d 699, 704 (2011) this Court affirmed that NRS 706.473 is a "statutorily created independent contractor relationship". Because the existence of the NRS 706.473 independent contractor relationship was established by undisputed facts, the district court correctly held the Taxi Drivers were independent contractors as a matter of law, stating:

The use of the term "employee" in the MWA and NRS 608.040 is not mere semantics; rather, it reflects a fundamental employment distinction. As independent contractors, the Plaintiffs are foreclosed from recovery under the MWA and NRS 608.040 as a matter of law.

III JA 600:10-12.

Further, the district court correctly held that the Legislature's enactment of NRS 608.0155 was an appropriate act in response to this Court's decision in <u>Terry</u>. And, pursuant to the Legislature's authority, the Legislature was fully empowered to enact NRS 608.0155's independent contractor test superseding and/or abrogating this Court's adoption of the economic realities test.

Lastly, under the old economic realities test, a contract entered into by and among parties was merely one of many factors in determining if an independent contractor relationship existed. Because Nevada no longer adheres to the economic realities test, under the application of the law of contracts, the Leases terms stating that the Taxi Drivers are independent contractors are conclusive and binding as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This Court "reviews the district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of lower court." Schettler v. RalRon Capital Corp., 128 Nev. 209, 214, 275 P.3d 933, 936 (2012) (quoting Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005)).

In addition, since this appeal involves constitutional and statutory interpretation, such matters are also subject to de novo review. In <u>Harvey v. Second Judicial Dist. Court</u>, 117 Nev. 754, 763, 32 P.3d 1263, 1269 (2001) the Court "recognized that the rules of statutory construction apply when we interpret constitutional provisions." <u>Id.</u> This Court reviews questions of constitutional and statutory construction under a de novo standard. <u>W. Cab Co. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of State in & for Cty. of Clark</u>, 133 Nev. 65, 73, 390 P.3d 662, 670–71 (2017) ("We review questions of constitutional interpretation de novo."); <u>Waste</u>

Mgmt. of Nevada, Inc. v. W. Taylor St., LLC, 135 Nev. 168, 170, 443 P.3d 1115, 1117 (2019) ("We review questions of statutory construction de novo.").

- II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED NRS 706.473 FINDING THE TAXI DRIVERS WERE INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS AS A MATTER OF LAW.
 - A. <u>YELLOW CAB OF RENO V. DISTRICT COURT</u>: RECOGNITION OF NRS 706.473'S INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR RELATIONSHIP.

In 2011, this Court rendered its decision in Yellow Cab of Reno v. District Court, 127 Nev. 583, 262 P.3d 699 (2011) addressing the application of NRS 706.473's provisions in the context of a personal injury action. In Yellow Cab, a pedestrian brought an action against both the driver and Yellow Cab, arguing that Yellow Cab was liable for the acts of the driver under the theory of respondeat superior. Id. at 586, 262 P.3d at 700. Yellow Cab moved for summary judgment, arguing that the driver of the taxi was an independent contractor under NRS 706.473, therefore, respondeat superior liability could not attach to Yellow Cab as a matter of law. Id.

The pedestrian claimed, just like the Taxi Drivers here, that Yellow Cab supposedly exerted a "high level of control" over the driver, such that an employment relationship existed regardless of the provisions of NRS 706.473. <u>Id.</u> at 586, 262 P.3d at 701. The district court determined that the driver's independent contractor status was a question of fact due to Yellow Cab's "control" over the

driver and denied Yellow Cab's motion for summary judgment. <u>Id</u>. The district court failed, however, to address Yellow Cab's NRS 706.473 argument. <u>Id</u>.

In considering Yellow Cab's subsequent writ petition,¹¹ this Court stated that although an employment relationship "typically" depends on the issue of control, such analysis was irrelevant and inapplicable given NRS 706.473's provisions.

This Court held if the statute's provisions are established, then an independent contractor relationship existed as a matter of law:

NRS 706.473 specifically authorizes the licensing of a taxicab to an independent contractor if the requirements of that statute and any administrative regulations promulgated in accordance with NRS 706.475 are met. Thus, under the statutory scheme, the existence of this statutorily created independent contractor relationship turns not on the issue of control, but on whether all of the statutory and administrative requirements for creating such an independent contractor relationship have been established.

<u>Id.</u> at 591-92, 262 P.3d at 704 (emphasis added).

This Court held because the issue was fully briefed, "the district court should have determined whether, in this case, all of the statutory and administrative requirements for creating an NRS 706.473 independent-contract

¹¹The NTA submitted an amicus brief in support of Yellow Cab. <u>Id.</u> at 588 n.3, 262 P.3d at 701 n.3. This is critical because the lease agreement in <u>Yellow Cab</u> is virtually identical to the Leases in the present case. III JA 444, fn. 13; *see also* III JA 524-533. The NTA's position in <u>Yellow Cab</u> was a clear recognition of the Leases' validity under NRS 706.473.

1 relationship between [the driver] and Yellow Cab have been met." Id. at 592, 262 2 3 4 5 6 7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

P.3d at 705. Thus, while this Court ultimately denied Yellow Cab's writ petition on procedural grounds, it did so "without prejudice to the district court reevaluating the propriety of summary judgment regarding Yellow Cab's NRS 706.473-based independent contractor argument in light of the analysis set forth in this opinion." Id. 593, 262 P.3d at 705. 12

Accordingly, it is clear that NRS 706.473's provisions establish a statutorily defined independent contractor relationship. Because the requirements of that statutory relationship are undisputedly established, the Taxi Drivers are independent contractors as a matter of law. The MWA does not apply to

¹⁶

¹² Of minor note, the Court in Yellow Cab declined to address the separate issue of whether the existence of a statutorily-created independent contractor relationship bars respondent superior liability. Id. at 592 n.6, 262 P.2d at 705 n.6. Reno Cab asserts this is a minor issue and easily resolved by consideration of well-established Nevada law holding respondeat superior liability cannot exist for the conduct of an independent contractor. As stated in Wells, Inc. v. Shoemake, 64 Nev. 57, 64, 177 P.2d 451, 456 (1947): "The law is well established beyond question, that one for whom services are performed by an independent contractor is not liable for the negligence or other delict or tort of such independent contractor." See also Hanneman v. Downer, 110 Nev. 167, 175, 871 P.2d 279, 284 (1995) (no respondent superior liability for conduct of an independent contractor); Molina v. Asher, 96 Nev. 814, 817, 618 P.2d 878, 880 (1980) ("Respondent superior liability attaches only when the employee is under the control of the employer and when the act is within the scope of the employment.").

independent contractors so this appeal must be denied and the district court's orders affirmed.

B. THE TAXI DRIVERS' CLAIMS ARE FORECLOSED BY APPLICATION OF NRS 706.473.

1. LEGISLATURE'S AUTHORITY TO ENACT LAWS GOVERNING THE TAXI CAB INDUSTRY.

"During its 1969 session, the legislature enacted NRS 706.881 to NRS 706.885, which sets forth requirements for the operation of taxicabs in counties whose population exceeds 200,000. On October 25, 1972, Clark County's population exceeded 200,000." Lamb v. Mirin, 90 Nev. 329, 332, 526 P.2d 80, 81 (1974). In 1972, Las Vegas's McCarran Airport Rules precluded "double loading" of passengers in taxi cabs, however, NRS Chapter 706's provisions specifically allowed "double loading". Id. In 1972, the Clark County Sheriff's department seized William Mirin's taxi driver's permit for violating the double loading provision of McCarran Airport's Rules. Id.

In <u>Lamb v. Mirin</u>, this Court addressed the conflict between the power of the Legislature and the power of local governments to regulate a particular subject matter, and stated:

Whenever a legislature sees fit to adopt a general scheme for the regulation of particular subject, local control over the same subject, through legislation, ceases. In determining whether the legislature intended to occupy a particular field to the exclusion of all local regulation, the Court

may look to the whole purpose and scope of legislative scheme.

<u>Id</u>. The Court then went on to further state:

Chapter 706 of NRS is the latest expression by the legislature on the subject, and has superseded any inconsistent provisions of prior legislative enactments. . . . NRS Chapter 706 has preempted the field with respect to taxicab regulations"

<u>Id</u>. at 333, 526 P.2d at 82. Accordingly, since the late 1960's, the Legislature has been passing laws regulating the taxi industry, including the subsequent creation and enactment of the NTA, and has been ensuring the protection of the independent contractor business relationship in Nevada's less-populous counties.

2. NRS 706.473'S PLAIN MEANING.

"Statutory language must be given its plain meaning if it is clear and unambiguous." <u>Badger v. District Court</u>, 132 Nev. 396, 401, 373 P.3d 89, 93 (2016). "When giving a statute's terms their plain meaning, [courts] will consider the statute's 'provisions as a whole so as to read them in a way that [will] not render words or phrases superfluous or make a provision nugatory." <u>Libby v. District Court</u>, 130 Nev. 359, 363-64, 325 P.3d 1276, 1279 (2014) (*quoting S. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark County*, 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005)). NRS 706.473's provisions are plain and clear and must be enforced as written.

3. NRS 706.473 PRESUMED VALID.

Further, laws "are presumed to be valid, and the burden is on the challenger to make a clear showing of their unconstitutionality." <u>Douglas Disposal, Inc. v.</u>

<u>Wee Haul, LLC.</u> 123 Nev. 552, 557, 170 P.3d 508, 512 (2007) (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also* <u>We The People Nevada v. Miller</u>, 124 Nev. 874, 881, 192 P.3d 1166, 1171 (2008) ("A presumption of validity" is given to the constitutionality of a statute); <u>Nevadans for Nevada v. Beers</u>, 122 Nev. 930, 939, 142 P.3d 339, 345 (2006) ("statutes are presumed to be valid, and the challenger bears the burden of showing that a statute is unconstitutional. In order to meet that burden, the challenger must make a clear showing of invalidity."). In the present case, the Taxi Drivers do not articulate in any fashion how NRS 706.473 is unconstitutional or in any other manner is an inappropriate exercise of the Legislature's authority.

4. THE LEASES COMPLY WITH NRS 706.473.

NRS 706.473(1) provides, in pertinent part, in counties of less than 700,000, a person who holds a certificate of public convenience and necessity issued for the operation of a taxicab business "may, upon approval from the Authority, lease a taxicab to an independent contractor" This statute also provides the NTA is charged "approving" the independent contractor lease agreement's compliance with the statutory and regulatory requirements. NRS

706.473(2).

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

NRS 706.475, in turn, states that the NTA "shall adopt such regulations as are necessary to . . . [c]arry out the provisions of NRS 706.473," including "[t]he minimum qualifications for an independent contractor."¹³ In Yellow Cab, this Court recognized the validity, applicability and enforceability of this statute when it held: "NRS 706.473 specifically authorizes the licensing of a taxicab to an independent contractor if the requirements of that statute and any administrative regulations promulgated in accordance with NRS 706.475 are met." Yellow Cab, 127 Nev. at 592, 262 P.3d at 704.14

¹³ NRS 706.475 states:

1. The Authority shall adopt such regulations as are necessary to:

- (a) Carry out the provisions of NRS 706.473; and
- (b) Ensure that the taxicab business remains safe, adequate and reliable.
- Such regulations must include, without limitation:
 - (a) The minimum qualifications for an independent contractor;
 - (b) Requirements related to liability insurance:
 - (c) Minimum safety standards; and
 - (d) The procedure for approving a lease agreement and the provisions that must be included in a lease agreement concerning the grounds for the revocation of such approval.

¹⁴ Certain provisions relating to the NTA's oversight are contained in the Nevada Administrative Code (the "NAC"). "The [NAC] is the codified administrative regulations of the Executive Branch of the State of Nevada. . . [and] govern the activities of the Department of Administration and its divisions. See State of Nevada, Department of Administration website:

http://admin.nv.gov/NAC/#:~:text=The%20Nevada%20Administrative%20Code%

Stated another way, NRS 706.473 defines a specific and unique relationship that the Legislature has stated is, "as a matter of law", an independent contractor relationship. This Court expressly recognized that the Legislature is vested with such authority. Yellow Cab, 127 Nev. at 592, 262 P.3d at 704 ("the existence of this statutorily created independent contractor relationship turns not on the issue of control, but on . . . the statutory and administrative requirements for creating such an independent contractor relationship").

The district court found Reno Cab satisfied all statutory and regulatory requirements creating the independent contractor relationship as a matter of law. III JA 600; see also III JA 519-522 (chart detailing Leases' compliance with all legal and regulatory requirements). It was also undisputed that Reno Cab and Street are taxicab businesses operating in Washoe County and Carson City, 15 both of which have populations well below 700,000, according to the 2010 Census. 16

²⁰⁽NAC,of%20Administration%20and%20its%20divisions (last visited August 5, 2020).

¹⁵See NRS 0.033 ("Whenever used in the Statutes of Nevada and Nevada Revised Statutes, the term 'county' includes Carson City. . . . Except as limited by the Charter of Carson City or by ordinances enacted by authority thereof, those provisions of the Statutes of Nevada or Nevada Revised Statutes which refer to the several counties apply equally to Carson City.").

¹⁶See NRS 0.050 ("Except as otherwise expressly provided in a particular statute or required by the context, 'population' means the number of people in a specified area as determined by the last preceding national decennial census

III JA 598. In addition, Reno Cab and Street each hold CPCNs, and held CPCNs at all relevant times. III JA 598-99. And, finally, the Leases were approved by the NTA. III JA 599; see also III JA 466, 468.

It is in this setting that the district court found that the Leases contained all the relevant statutory and regulatory components of NRS 706.473 and the corresponding NAC provision. III JA 599. The district court then appropriately granted summary judgment in favor of Reno Cab finding:

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